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quod nimium gentilitatis amatores essemus,

cum nemo ¢o huius rei studiosior esset, qui-

ppe qui ¢ statuas yvererom llndit]uc UN o

Urbe conquisitas, in suas illas aedes, quas

sub Capitolio exrruchar, congererer, avecto

etiam ex sancta Agnete heatae Constantiae

sepulchro, frusta reclamantibus monaclus

laci, qui postea mortue Paulo, sepulchrum

ilud  porphyreticom a Sixto  pontifice
repetiere.”

(1r) Undated letter from Cardinal Ammannari
Piccolomini, in Ammannati Piccolomini
1997, 2: 1124-6, “Intelligo ex litteris tuis
quac cupiat bearissimus pater de numis-
matibus inventis. Curabo rem quanta dili-
gentia potera et fidum mirtam, qui illa
conquirar ef ferar. Puto tamen distracra in
varios vsse. Apud me, teste Deo, nulla omin-
ino sunt; neque enim dis sum delecratus.
Tantam, ¢um essem Pientiae, de inventis
audivi, er unum solum inspexi, oblarum
mihi a quodam canonico, qui ab invensore
acceperat. Referebar ad trecenta esse num-
era. Quanmim exX superscriptione perspexi,
eX NOVISSIMIS sunt: nOmen enim erat novi
ac paenc ignoti imperatoris. Similia esse
puto quae reliqua sunt. Sed ad praeceprum
pontificis me accingo. Vale.”

Later history: Lorenzo de’ Medici acquired many
of Barbo's gems, which laser entered the Farnese
collection.

1 For poems about the garden, which describe s
porticoes as gleaming with gold, see Weiss 1958, jo.

2 “hem puer wenens in manibus canem quem ponit ad
faciem. et ridet, et sedet, traiectnus ab illo qui fuit J,
Stephani de Porcariis, valoris ' ducan,”™ Miintz 18-8-
82, 2: 200.

3 Bober and Rubinstein 1986, 104-5, no. 68; Gasparri
1994b. Using the inventorics of Lorenzo de™ Medici's
collection, Fusco and Corti {2006, 29-107} have
identified many of Barbo's antigoe gems and hardstone
vessels.

4 Bober and Rubinstein 1986, 155-—. no. r23: Fusco and
Cont 2006, 2. Batho was the excanor of Trevisan's
cstate. For Trevisans collection see Paschini 1g3y;
Bagemihl 199y,

5 Weiss 969, 18~ Salomen :co3. 8. For pavmeats
made by Barbo for antigue pems and camteos, see
Zippel 1yoy. 188-92.

G Mintz 878-8x, 2
Salomon zoo3. 14 Fusco and Corti 2006, 2.

111-2 . g5 Meiss 958, 168

WFEN (2£1¢)

= Momgz p8-8-82 20 133-3 n. 52 Bober and Rubinsten
1986, 200, no. 16X8; Fusco and Cort 2oo6. 2.

&  Munis 1892; Bianchi ooy, 13-18, 1585,

v The poem was first published in Bianchi 2004, 153-5,
who, however, mistakes the subject of this epigram for
the porphvry sarcophagus of Sta. Costanza, Another
large ancient basin now beneath the high alar of &,
Marco may once perhaps have been part of Barbo™s
outdoor collection:  the vessel appears next 1w a
representation of the deor and window of Palazzo San
Marco in a hAfteenthcentury drawing 1Ginliano and
Fusconi ry8iy. 183),

1o Chambers 1989, 271 ne g5 Modigliani 2003, 127-8.

4 BELVEDERE (MAP 3)

After his election to the papacy in November
1503, Giuhano della Rovere mitiated a series of
extraordinary artistic commissions; the rebuilding
of St. Peter’s, the decorarion of the Stanze and the
Sistine Chapel ceiling, and the counstruction of
Bramante’s Belvedere gardens and statue gadlery.
He had already rehearsed the idea of a srarue
court with the one he had created as cardinal at
SS. Apostoli (*della Rovere, Cardinal Giuliano)
but afrer his election he conceived of a much more
elaborare cortife and garden for the display of
masrerpicee sculprures.

The long, porticoed gardens of Bramante's
Belvedere rtecalled both literary descriptions of
ancient settings and real archeological landscapes:
the hippodrome of Pliny's Tuscan villa, the Temple
of Fortuna Preneste, antique circuses and stadia,
or Nero’s Domus Transitoria.! Albertini, in his
guidebook of 1510, describes its lush gardens
and “towers, baths, and aqueducts.”™ Bramante
created space for della Rovere’s statue court
berween his new gardens and the older villa of
Innocent vin, built in the 1480s at a high vantage
point to the north of the papal palace (see Figs,
114 and 115}. Some have speculated thar Julius 11
planned the starue collection only after the dis-
covery of the Laocudn in 1506.° Yer, given his
weakness for antique sculpture {documented in
the battles for fgural marbles wapged  with
Lorenzo de’ Medici as carly as 1489), itis unhkely
that he would have started planning the Belvedere
without a space for his cotlection in mind.

The first documented anrique object in the
Belvedere was a large colored-marble basin brought
in 1504 from the Baths of Titus and installed at




the bottom of the gardens.” On the plan in the
Codex Couer it appears as a shaded circle in the
middle of the Tower rerrace (see Fig. trs). Herc
della Rovere repeated one of the design fearures
of his cortile and collection at 55. Apostoli, where
a massive porphyry basin had stood at the center
of the garden {sec Vigs. 112 and 158). The second
antique work to reach the Belvedere was the Leao-
codin (sce Fig. 1163, which had emerged from the
ground on January 14, 1506 in the vineyard of
Felice de’ Fredis {no. 1 and 2).3 After its discovery
so many large crowds assembled day and night at
Felice de’ Fredis’s house to see the work that,
according to Isabella dEste’s agents in Rome, “it
seemed a Jubilee.” De* Fredis even had to sleep
next to the statue 1o protect it from thieves (no.
1). Given the excitement it generated, it is not sur-
prising that many collectors in Rome desperately
wanted the work. An immediate affer came from
fulius n's nephew Cardinal Galeotto Franciotti
della Rovere, who was then redecorating the
Cancellesia Vecchia, while “the Romuans,” pre-
sumtably the Conservators, also wanted 1t for the
Capitoline hill (no. 1 and 4). In the ead de’ Fredis
could nor resist the will of the pope or the highly
generous fee that Julius 1 paid for the starue,
consisting of the annual rax receipts from two ciry
gates.’ Soon after closing the deal, hefore june
1506, della Rovere installed the Laocoin at the
Belvedere in a place of hanor at the south wall
{see Fig. 1535 no. 4).

About sixty years after the fact, Francesco da
Sangallo wrote an extraordinary account of the
statue’s excavation, which was witnessed by his
father Giuliano da Samgallo and Michelingelo
(no. 23). Even before the sculpture emerged from
the ground, he claims, his father recognized it as
the “Lacceon, which Pliny mentions, ™ The statue
had indeed been so Fumous in antiquity that Pliny
referred to it by name in his Natwral History
{34.37). According to Pliny, the Emperor Titus
had displaved the work in his palace and prized
it as a masterpicce carved by Hegesandras,
Athenodoros, and Polvdoros of Rhodes ex 1m0
lapide {out of a single block). In facy, the work is
made in several different pieces, as Michelangelo
and Gian Cristoforo Romano were quick to point
out (no, 4).

By Renaissance standards, the Laocodn was the
mosr exceptional antique statue cver discovered in

Rome: the names of its sculptors were known, it
had been owned by an emperor, and it emerged
from the ground almost fully intact, missing only
the right arm of Laocoén and that of his younger
son. Tmmediately afrer its discovery, it became the
first Renaissance antiquity to achieve rruly inter-
national fame, 1o such an exrent that it made the
Belvedere an imperative stopover for diplomats,
artists, and pilgeims. A widespread demand for
copies ensued and in 1510 Bramante held a com-
petition {judged by Raphael) to see who could
make the best wax replica of the statue. The win-
ning model by Jacopo Sansovine was cast in bron-
ze and sold to the Venetian antiguities collecror,
Domenico Grimani (*Grimani).” Unsurprisingly,
the statue also spired a large number of pocins;
five months after its excavation Cesare Trivulzio
sent off a package of Laocoon-related poems to
his brother in Milan (no. 4} The surviving verses
treat a wide range of themes, including Lavcodn’s
love for his sons, the kindness of Julius for ex-
hibiting the statue to the popolo Romano, or the
statug’s pain and piety. One composed by Evan-
gelista Maddaleni de' Capodiferro, written in the
voice of the Laocoén himself {*Laocobn ego
sum™) portrays him as a patriot who died for the
sake of his country, Flis unjust fare was to be fro-
zen in marhle and suffer in silence, “without vaice
or soul” for eternity.”

Ficrce competition for the Laocodn helped to
usher in a new era of antiguities collecring in Rome,
raising prices for the best sculptures so high that
only a few could atford them. [n May 1507, when
a Roman pulled an impressive Hercules and
Telephos out of his garden near the Campo de’
Fiori (Fig. 167}, Julius 1t jumped ar the chance to
buy it and rewarded the owner with a life-long,
beuchice (nos. 5 and 6).° Albertini’s gnidebook
tells us thar Julins 11 placed the sratue wear an
inscription reading Procul este profani (* You who
are not holy stay far away™), the words spoken by
the Cumcan Sibyl to Aeneas as he entered the
underworld in Viegil's Aeneid (6.258)." Soon
after the arrival of the Hercides and Telephos, the
Apollo Belvedere (see Fig. r11) came 1o the
Vatican from della Rovere’s collection at S5.
Apostoli. The figure, acquired by della Rovere in
1489, was probably destined for the Belvedere
statue court from the moment the pope began work
on the cortife. Yet a lener recently discovered by
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Christoph  Frommel reveals thao della Rovere
sransferred it from S5, Aposeoli only in October
r508 (no. 7). The statue had remained in place
until just after the death (in September t508) of
Cardinal  Giovanni Colenna, who had  been
renting Giuliano della Roveres ex-palace and
seemingly had reserved the right to keep the
famous Apollo. Payvments were made only in
August 1511 for irs insrallation in a niche at the
Belvedere {see Figs. 114 and 117)."!
Re-examining these payvments, Frommel asked
why the Apollo’s msralladon ook place nearly
three years after irs rransfer from S5. Aposwoli.
Perhaps, he suggested, the pope first displaved it
and other works scen by Albertini in the papal
palace, only later moving them o the Belvedere,
Since Albertini located the Hercrles and Teleplios

u

in the “palatine palace,™ nor in the Belvedere,
Fromme! proposcd thar this figure, the Apollo
Belvedere, and the statue of Venns Felix (see Fig.
118}, which Albertini saw “next to™ the Apolio,
initially stood in the Logge or another area of the
papal palazzo. Frommel pointed our that the Lao-
cadn is the only starue which Albertini specitically
located “in the Belvedere,” while the others he
merely described as having been “rransferred to
the Vatican™ (nos. g-10)."2 The precise locarion of
these sculpeures in the early stages of the Bel-
vedere's history remains unclear and Albertini's
limited description of the papal collection can be
interpreted in many different ways, Yer the en-
trance to the Belvedere statue court seems a closer
match 1o Alberting’s description of the Hercriles
and Telephos, which he locates “in the palatine
palace near the door of the portico, above the
garden™ (no, 10}, than o the Logge or the more
secluded areas of the papal palace.

Albertini’s gnidebook also mentions another
statue in the papal collections (no. g). This was a
statue and he
attributed to the ancient sculptor Polykleitos, ' Tt
is fikely that this statue and the Vemnrs Felix came
directly out of della Rovere’s older collection ar
$S. Apostoli (*della Rovere, Cardinal Ginliano).
At some point before February 1512, Julius 11
further expanded the Belvedere collection by

of Hercules Antaeus, which

purchasing a sleeping female figure from the
Maffei (see Fig. 96; “ Maffei)." The state acrually
depicts the Cretan princess Ariadne, about 1o be
woken by Bacchus. For most Renaissance viewers,
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167 Hercules and Telephos, Vatican Museums

however, the fgures serpentine  arm-braceler
made her Cleopatra, shown committing suicide by
snakebite. Before 1536, a rocky backdrop was
created for the niche of the “Cleopawra,” trans-
forming her sewing into a gratto of a sleeping
uymph reclining at the source of a spring.'*

Julius 1t also added ro the Belvedere a pair of
river gods discovered in the Isaeam in the Campus
Martius. In February 1512 a personification of the
Tiber was excavated, while its rwin the Nile came
to Jight in the following months (Figs. 168 and
169; no. 13 and 14). The Tiber had actually seen
the light of day many decades earlier. Poggio
Bracciolini wrote about its discovery in his De
rarictate fortunae but reported chat the owner had
covered it up ro avoid the excessive arrention of
curivus spectators.’®

Della Rovere's successor Leo x (Giovanni de’
Medici) was primarily inrerested in acquiring sculp-
tures for his own family’s palace at Prazza Navona
and villa on Monte Mario (* Palazzo Medici, * Villa
Medicil, The pope had the Belvedere river pods




made into fountains {no. 17); a drawing areribured
1o Van Heemskerck shows them byving on wll plin-
ths decarated with Medici coats of arms, facing
each other across the cortile (Fig. 169).'” Another
antigque statuc which has been associated with Leo
X’s patronage is the river god Tigris, although its
arrival ai the Belvedere statue court is undocu-
mented." A restorer sculpted a lion on the lip of
the vrn held by this river god, suggesting that the
statue may have been acquired and pacnally re-
carved under Leo x. Yet Rubinstein has argued
that it was Clement vir who brought the hgore ro
the Belvedere. She identified the Tigris with a stat-
ue seen in 1527 lying “in front of the houses of the
Santacroce,” and suggested thar Clement brought
the work to the Vatican only after thar dawe,"
Accarding to Vasari and other contemporary
observers, after Pope Leo X's death in 1522, the
newly elected Hadran vi turned a cold shoulder
to the Belvedere. During his short papacy, he was
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168  Hendrick Golrzius, Nife, Haarlem, Teylers Muoscum, inv. Kl oz1, 15971

said ro have restricted visits 1o these “idols of the
ancients,” A group of Venetian ambassadors re-
porred thar the pontiff closed off all but one of
the nwelve entrances to the collection, the one
juined to his own chambers (no. 7). Some schol-
ars have taken this statemenr at face value, argu-
ing that the pope wished ta barricade the collection
entirely, while others have presented the opposire
view that Hadrian wished 1o keep the starues all
to himself. Both of these positious are probably
exaggerated.™ In any case, the often-repeated, vet
anachronistic notion thar the Durch artist Jan van
Scorel served as Pope Hadrian's “curator of anti-
quities” at the Belvedere should be put to rest. Ir
has arisen from Karel Van Mander's statement, in
his Life of Van Scorel, that the pope put him “in
charge of the Belvedere.” Van Mander's words,
however, most likely allude to Van Scorel’s posi-
rion as a court arrist at the Vatican, in which cap-
acity he scems to have lived ar the Belvedere.”!




= 169

= Drawings, inv. 1946-7-13-6349, ¢, 1§32~7

There would have been no precedent at the time
for an antiguities “curaror™ ag the Vatican ar else-
where.

When Pope Clement vii came to the throne in
1523, whatever barriers Hadrian mighe have placed
on the cortife were lifted, and at least a few more
sculprures added. It was probably during his pap-
acy that the Torso Belvedere (see Fig, 215) came to
the Vatican collection, though it is not certain how
and when the pope managed to acquire i, The fig-
ure is probably one of the works described in 1537
by Johann Fichard, who saw lving in the vicinity of
the Tiber and Nile “some torsos of statues of which
one is especially commended by artists” (no. 20).™
Account records from the years of Clement’s pap-
acy document the purchase of eerte maschere anti-
che, large antique masks that were eventually hung
round the cortile (see Fig. 168).5

With its elevated position and ordered plant-
ings, the Belvedere as a whole could be described
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The Belvedere Tibrer and Nile, artribured o Maarren van Heemskerck, London, British Museum, Prints &

equally as a “hanging garden™ and sratue courr.
In contrast to the more informal garden planted
with laurel bushes, mulberries, and call cypresses
just to its west, the cortile defle statue was paved
with rerracotra tiles and neatly planted with rows
of orange trees [no. 17). Gianfrancesco Pico della
Mirandola described the setting as a “perfumed
wood of citrus trees in a stone pavement” (no.
16). From a loggia and fountain-house o the west
of the conrrvard, a farge fountain fed the irri-
gation channels that watered the orange grove.
Within the cortile proper, more cooling fountains
surrounded visitors from all sides, at the Tigris
and Ariadne on the north corers, the Tiber and
Nile in the center, and the south side of the court-
vard. The large fountain to the south, situated be-
tween the Laocodn and the Apollo Belvedere,
paired a grotesque mask wirth an antique sarco-
phagus supported by sphinses, as is shown in a
drawing by Heemskerck (sce Fig. 117).7* Lastly,




the fountain made up of an altar and a sculpture
of a rodent or bear seen in this drawing has not
been identified nor is it ever mentioned in any
known description of the Belvedere. Indeed. this
curions fountain was probably never in the formal
Belvedere cortife and Van Heemskerck, as in other
mstances (e.gr. Fig. 66), combined two skerches
made in two parts of Rome on a single page, posi-
tioning them against a single horizon line.*

The statues were posed on marching bases, all
of a similar format to the original one that still
supports the Laocodn (see Fips, 116 and 117}
these were the bases that scandalized Pico delia
Mirandola becaunse of their resemblance o * licele
altars™ {no. 163 Ginliano della Rovere had used
this model of base already in his cardinal’s collect-
ion {sce Fig. 113} Eventually, the niches were
painted. Francisco de Holanda's sketchbook, for
example, illustrates a green arbor and flving birds
frescoed in the niche of the Apollo Befvedere,”

The villa became a residence for visiting artists:
Bramante himself, Leanardo da Vinei, and Michel-
angelo ali lived there for a time. Yer for any artist
who wished ro visit it, the Belvedere collection was

170 The Belvedere, anonymous, Berlin, Kupferstichkabinerr, inv. =9.D.2a. vol. 2, fol.
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probably one of the mast casily aceessible in
Rome. Visitors did not nced 1o pass through rthe
papal palace to reach the sratue court bue, as Fich-
ard describes (no. 20), could have enrered by
Bramante's drumatic spiral staircase ar the north-
cast corner. A view in the Berlin albums shows the
patlt leading to the spiral stairway and what scems
to have been the “public™ entrance to the starue
cortile at the bottom of the hill (Fig. 170).% Its
prestige and accessibility made the Belvedere the
mosrt frequently sketched, the most imitated, and
the most highly praised anriquities collection in all
of Rome. Vasari effectively canonized it in his
preface 1o the third part of his Lives (first pub-
lished in 1550), where he emphasized the role of
the Belvedere sculprures in the shift o the “Third
Era” of the arrs,™ The reception of the Belvedere
sculptures by major European artists such as Tit-
ian, Bernini, and Canova can only be mentioned
in passing here. Its impace on the visual arrs was
so profound and long-lasting that, as Haskell and
Penny wrore, it “set the standards by which art of
all kinds was to be evalrated for more than three

hundred years,™™

16, 153087




